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I.  INTRODUCTION
1. This is a Notice of Apparent Liability for Forfeiture ("NAL"), issued pursuant to Section 503(b) of the Communications Act of 1934 (“Act”), as amended,
 and Section 1.80 of the Commission's Rules,
 against Central Illinois Public Service Company ("CIPS"), licensee of 88 Private Land Mobile and Microwave stations in the State of Illinois.
  For the reasons that follow, we find that CIPS engaged in a substantial transfer of control of its stations to Ameren Corporation ("Ameren") without prior Commission consent, in apparent violation of Section 310(d) of the Act
 and former Section 101.53 of the Commission's Rules.
 We conclude that CIPS is apparently liable for a forfeiture in the amount of thirty thousand dollars ($30,000).


II.  BACKGROUND
2. On December 31, 1997, Union Electric Company of Missouri (“Union”) and CIPSCO, Incorporated ("CIPSCO") merged to form a new entity, Ameren Corporation ("Ameren").
  As a result of the merger, CIPSCO ceased to exist, and a subsidiary of CIPSCO, Central Illinois Public Service Company ("CIPS"), became an Ameren subsidiary.
 

3. On April 17, 1998, approximately three and one-half months after the merger was consummated, CIPS brought this matter to the attention of the Wireless Telecommunications Bureau (“Bureau”) and filed an application for consent to the transfer of control of its land mobile and microwave licenses to Ameren.
  In an accompanying transmittal letter, CIPS proffered no explanation for its failure to request Commission consent prior to the merger.
 On December 23, 1998, CIPS requested Special Temporary Authority (“STA”) to operate its land mobile and microwave facilities.
 The Bureau granted the STA on January 13, 1999,
 but has not granted the application for the transfer of control from CIPS to Ameren.  On March 18, 1999, CIPS informed the Bureau that it had implemented a compliance program to ensure future compliance with the Commission's Rules.

III. DISCUSSION
4. Section 310(d) of the Communications Act
 provides in pertinent part:


No construction permit or station license, or any rights thereunder, shall be transferred, assigned, or disposed of in any manner, voluntarily or involuntarily, directly or indirectly, or by transfer of control of any corporation holding such permit or license, to any person except upon application to the Commission and upon finding by the Commission that the public interest, convenience, and necessity will be served thereby.

This section was codified for fixed microwave services at Section 101.53(a) of the Commission's Rules.

5. Our review of the transaction indicates that control of CIPS' stations was transferred to Ameren as a result of the merger between Union and CIPSCO, and that the transaction constituted a substantial transfer of control of multiple stations. The Commission has stated that a substantial transfer of control occurs when there is a transfer of fifty percent or more of a licensee’s stock.
  In this case, CIPS engaged in a substantial transfer of control of its licenses when CIPS and Union merged into, and became subsidiaries of, Ameren.  At that time, control of CIPS' stations passed from CIPS' stockholders, who previously had held a 100% interest in the stations, to Ameren, a company in which CIPS’ former shareholders hold less than fifty percent, or a minority interest.

6. It is undisputed that CIPS did not apply for or obtain Commission consent prior to the transfer of control of multiple stations to Ameren on December 31, 1997.  The guidelines contained in the Commission's Forfeiture Policy Statement specify a base forfeiture amount of $8,000 for an unauthorized, substantial transfer of control.
  When setting the final amount for the penalty, Section 503(b)(2)(D) of the Act
 and Section 1.80(b)(4) of the Commission's Rules
 require us to take into account "the nature, circumstances, extent, and gravity of the violation and, with respect to the violator, the degree of culpability, and history of prior offenses, ability to pay, and such other matters as justice may require."

7. In this case, taking all these factors into account, we believe the appropriate forfeiture is $30,000.  Initially, we note that the transfer involved 88 stations.  Each of these stations represents a separate violation of the Act and our rules.
  We decline, however, to calculate the forfeiture amount by simply multiplying the base forfeiture amount of $8,000 times the number of stations.  That methodology would result in an excessive forfeiture amount in this case and would be inconsistent with prior enforcement actions.  Nonetheless, because of the number of stations involved, we believe the total forfeiture amount should be well above the $8,000 base forfeiture for a single violation in the guidelines.

8. We note that there are a number of mitigating factors present in this case.  First, we find it important that CIPS voluntarily brought this matter to the Commission's attention.  Second, the stations involved are noncommercial facilities used by CIPS, a public utility, for its own internal business communications. Third, only three and one-half months passed between the time the merger was consummated and when CIPS sought to remedy its dereliction.  Finally, CIPS has implemented a compliance program designed to avoid future derelictions. 

9. We note that imposing a $30,000 forfeiture in this case is consistent with other forfeitures for similar violations.  In Puget Sound Energy, Inc., 14 FCC Rcd 9111 (Wireless Tel. Bur. 1999), for example, a $20,000 forfeiture was imposed against a licensee who had transferred substantial control of 125 stations for approximately two months before informing the Commission and attempting to obtain Commission consent.  For purposes of calculating the forfeiture, we believe both cases involve a large number of stations.  The duration of the violations in this case (approximately three and one-half months) was longer than the violations in Puget Sound.  Taking into consideration these factors, as required by Section 503(b)(2)(D) of the Act, we believe that a total forfeiture in the amount of thirty thousand dollars ($30,000) is appropriate.


IV.  ORDERING CLAUSES
10. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS ORDERED, pursuant to Section 503(b) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended,
 Section 1.80 of the Commission's Rules,
 Central Illinois Public Service Company is hereby NOTIFIED of its APPARENT LIABILITY FOR A FORFEITURE in the amount of thirty thousand dollars ($30,000) for willfully and repeatedly violating Section 310(d) of the Communications Act of 1934,
 as amended, and former Section 101.53(a) of the Commission's Rules.
 

11. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to Section 1.80 of the Commission's Rules,
 that within thirty days of the release of this Notice, Central Illinois Public Service Company SHALL PAY the full amount of the proposed forfeiture
 or SHALL FILE a written statement seeking reduction or cancellation of the proposed forfeiture.

12.  IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a copy of this Notice shall be sent by Certified Mail Return Receipt Requested to Central Illinois Public Service Company's communications counsel, Shirley S. Fujimoto, Esq., McDermott, Will & Emery, 600 13th Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20005-3096.
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Magalie Roman Salas






Secretary




�  47 U.S.C. § 503(b).


�  47 C.F.R § 1.80.


�  CIPS' stations have the following call signs: KBX23, KBX73, KBY60, KBY61, KCU67, KEO45, KEO46, KEU47, KEY33, KFG39, KFX41, KHY32, KIR50, KQU92, KSE41, KSE42, KSE43, KSE44, KSE45, KSE46, KSE47, KSE49, KSE50, KSE51, KSE52, KSE53, KSE54, KSE55, KSE56, KSI32, KSI33, KSI34, KSI35, KSI36, KSI37, KSI38, KSI39, KSI40, KSI88, KSI89, KSI90, KSJ75, KSJ77, KSJ78, KSJ79, KSJ80, KSK67, KSL30, KSL31, KSL32, KSL33, KSL34, KSL35, KSL38, KSL75, KSL76, KSL77, KSL78, KSL79, KSL80, KTS72, KUV57, KUV58, KUV60, KVG92, KYD47, WAL511, WAL512, WBM558, WBM559, WBM560, WED572, WEE532, WGX849, WHC234, WHH595, WHI586, WIU24, WNEJ553, WNER739, WNEU652, WNEX806, WNTF299, WNTK963, WNTP416, WNTV791, WPNC461, and WQU89.


�  47 U.S.C. § 301(d).


�  47 C.F.R. § 101.53(a). On February 12, 1999, Section 101.53 of the Commission's Rules was replaced by Section 1.948 of the Commission's Rules.  See In the Matter of the Biennial Regulatory Review -- Amendment of Parts 0, 1,13, 22, 24, 26,27,80,87,90,95,97 and 101 of the Commission's Rules to Facilitate the Development and Use of  the Universal Licensing Service in the Wireless Telecommunications Services, 13 FCC Rcd 21027 (1998).  The prior rule is applicable here because CIPS filed its FCC Form 415 before that date.





�  On May 6, 1999, the Bureau released an NAL against Union Electric Company for $20,000 for a pro forma transfer of control of its 68 stations in this same transaction, in violation of Section 310(d) of the Act.  Union subsequently paid the forfeiture.  Union Electric Company, 14 FCC 7145 (Wireless Tel. Bur. 1999).


�  Standard and Poor's, Vol. 1, p. 6254 (1998).


�  Letter dated June 15, 1998, from Shirley S. Fujimoto, counsel for Ameren, Union, and CIPS (hereinafter, "counsel for CIPS"), to Mary Shultz, FCC, Gettysburg, Pennsylvania.


�  Letter dated April 17, 1998, with FCC Form 415, from Union, to the FCC at Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.


�  Id.


� Letter dated December 23, 1998, from counsel for CIPS to the FCC, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.


�  STA request stamped “granted”, January 13, 1999.


�  Letter dated March 18, 1999, from Union's counsel, to Katherine Power, attorney, FCC Wireless Telecommunications Bureau.


�  47 U.S.C. § 310(d).


�  47 C.F.R. § 101.53(a).


�  See Metromedia Inc, 98 FCC 2d 300, 306 (1984).  See also Fox Television Stations, Inc., 10 FCC Rcd 8452, 8513 (1995).


�  Letter dated April 26, 1999, from CIPS counsel to Katherine Power, FCC, Wireless Telecommunications Bureau. Therein, CIPS counsel states that “[pursuant to the merger], 137,215,462 shares of Ameren common stock were issued.  Of these shares, 102,123,834 were issued to the previous shareholders of Union, while 35,091,628 shares of Ameren were issued to former CIPSCO shareholders.” 


�  The Commission's Forfeiture Policy Statement and Amendment of Section 1.80 of the Rules to Incorporate the Forfeiture Guidelines, 12 FCC Rcd 17087, 17113 (1997).


�  47 U.S.C. § 503(b)(2)(D).


�  47 C.F.R. § 1.80(b)(4).


�  47 U.S.C. § 503(b)(2)(D).


�  Courtesy Communications, Inc., 14 FCC Rcd 4198, 4200 (1999).


�  47 U.S.C. § 503(b).


�  47 C.F.R. § 1.80.


�  47 U.S.C. § 310(d).


�  47 C.F.R. § 101.53(a).


�  47 C.F.R. § 1.80.


�  Payment of the forfeiture may be made by credit card through the Commission's Billings and Collections Branch at (202) 418-1995 or by mailing a check or similar instrument, payable to the order of the Federal Communications Commission, to the Federal Communications Commission, P.O. Box 73482, Chicago, Illinois 60673-7482.  The payment should note the file number of this proceeding. 
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